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Director’s report

The Board of Directors hereby submit the report and audited financial statements of Gulf Cement
Company P.S.C. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2025 presenting the Company’s results
and activities for the year.

Incorporation and registered office

The Company having license no. 32 is incorporated as a public shareholding company by Emiri decree
number 24 /77 issued by His Highncss, The Ruler of Ras Al Khaimah, U.A.E., in 1977. The address of the
Company's registered office is P. O. Box 5295, Ras Al Khaimah, United Arab Emirates. The Company’s
shares are listed on Abu Dhabi Sccuritics Exchange (ADX).

Principal activity

The principal activides of the Company are production and marketing of all types of cement.

Financial position and results

The Company recorded revenue of AED 551.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2025 which is
14.7% higher than revenue of AED 480.8 million in the prior year. The Company incurred net loss
amounting to AED 7.9 million (2024: AED 41.5 million) and generated EBITDA of AED 43.8 million
(2024: AED 23.9 million). The financial position and results of the Company for the year ended December
31, 2025 are set out in the accompanying financial statements.

Auditors

Grant Thornton was appointed as auditors of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2025.

Acknowledgements

The Board would like to express their gratitude and appreciation to all sharcholders, customers and business
partners, government agencies, banks and financial institutons and employees, whose continued
commitment, support and co-operation has been a great strength and encouragement.

on behalf of the board:
PR

A

Sheikh Omar Saqer Khaled Humaid Alqassimi
Chairman

February 5, 2026

Ras Al Khaimah, United Arab Emirates
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We  have audited the financial statements of Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.
(the "Company"), which comptise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2025, the
statement of profit or loss, statement of other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2025, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by International Accounting
Standards Board (TASB).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Awditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (“TIESBA Code”), together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the United Arab Emitates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and apptopriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

e
grantthornton.ae

© 2026 Grant Thornton UAE. All rights reserved.
Grant Thornton UAE is the trading name for Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting Limited (incorparated in the British Virgin Islands and registered with the Dubai Financial

Services Authority), its licensed branches in Abu Dhabi, Dubai, Sharjah, Abu Dhabi Global Market ind its subsidiary Grant Thomnton LLC.

“Grant Thornton” refers to the brand name under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the
context requires. Grant Thornton International Limited {GTIL) and the member firms, including Grant Thornton UAE, are not a warldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm
are separate legal entities. Services are delivered by the member firms, GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate,
one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
Key Awndit Mattors

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
sepatate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in out repott.

Key Audit Matter

How our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of property, plant
and equipment

The Company’s property, plant and equipment
(“PPE”) had a carrying value of AED 526.9
million as at December 31, 2025, The Company
has incutred recutring operating losses, which
indicate potential impairment of these assets.

In response to these indicators, management
performed an impairment assessment as at
December 31, 2025 using a value-in-use (“VIU”)
model based on the discounted future cash flows
expected to be generated from the business. Based
on this assessment, management concluded that
no impairment of PPE was required as at that
date.

The impairment assessment involves significant
judgement, particularly in relation to future cash
flows, discount rates and other key assumptions
used in the value-in-use model. Given the size of
the PPE balance and the sensitivity of the
assessment to changes in these assumptions, this
area required significant auditor attention and was
therefore considered a key audit matter.

Relevant disclosures are included in note 14 to the
financial statements, with note 4.19 describing the
key sources of estimation uncertainty relating to
the impairment assessment.

Our audit procedures to test the impairment analysis
performed by the Company’s management included
the following:

= We obtained an understanding of management’s
process surrounding the impairment assessment
of PPE.

®  We evaluated the approach used by management
to determine the value-in-use of the assets and
considered its consistency with the requirements
of IFRS Accounting Standards.

" We assessed the key assumptions and
judgements applied by management, including
the cash flow projections and supporting
information used in the impairment model.

= We evaluated the reasonableness of
management’s forecasts for key assumptions by
consideting  histotical  petformance and
information made available to management and
Board of Directors.

® We reviewed the discount rate and terminal
growth rate applied in the model and assessed
their overall appropriateness with reference to
available market information.

®  We considered the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting standards.
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Shareholders of Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Key Aundit Matters (continsed)

Key Audit Matter

How our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter

Management assessment of preparation of the
financral statements on a going concern basis

The financial statements have been prepared on
going concern basis. Management is required to
assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of at least twelve months from
the date of approval of the financial statements.

The Company has experienced circumstances that
required significant judgment in assessing its ability
to continue as a going concern. These conditions
included recurring losses and liquidity pressures,
which required management to use significant
judgement, estimation and assumption to forecast
the profitability and availability of financing. Given
the importance of this assessment to the financial
statements, this matter was considered a key audit
matter.

Management’s disclosure relating to going concern

are presented in note 1.1 to the financial statements. "

Other Matter

Our audit procedures included, among othets:

= We evaluated management’s process for
preparing going concern assessment, including
understanding the key assumptions applied in
the cash flow forecasts.

= We compared forecast information to historical
petformance and other available data to assess
the reliability of management’s forecasting
process, including production levels, sales
volumes, and cost assumptions.

= We performed stress testing on management’s
forecasted projectons to evaluate the
company’s liquidity position under stressed
conditions.

8 We reviewed the availability of financing
arrangements and other support, including
examining the terms of banking facilities and
assessing compliance with key covenants.

We evaluated the adequacy of the disclosure in
the financial statements relating to going
concern, ensuring they appropriately describe
the management’s assessment and any related
uncertainties.

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on February 17, 2025,

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Boatd of Directors’ report but does not include the financial statements and our auditot’s
report thereon, We obtained Directors’ report prior to date of our auditors’ report, and we expect to obtain
the remaining sections of the Annual report after the date of auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon,

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements ot our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a2 material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

4
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentaton of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of UAE Federal Decree Law No. (32) of
2021 and Articles of Association of the Company, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Anditor's Responsibilities for the Andit of the Financial Statenients

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 2 guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggrepate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of usets taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effecdveness of the Company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as 2 going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are requited to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company
to cease to continue as a going conceran.

5
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of Gulf Cement Company P.S.C.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those chatged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those chatged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regatding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Dectee Law No. (32) of 2021, as amended by Federal Decree-Law
No. 20 of 2025, we repott that, for the year ended December 31, 2025, we report that:

1) We have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

i) The financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. (32) of 2021 as amended by Federal Decree-Law
No. (20) of 2025 and Articles of Association of the Company;

1) The Company has maintained proper books of account in accordance with established accounting
principles;
iv) The financial information included in the Board of Directors’ report is consistent with the books

of account of the Company;

v) Investments, if any, in shares and stocks during the year ended December 31, 2025 are disclosed in
note 16 to the financial statements;

vi) Note 27 to the financial statements discloses material related party transactions, and the terms under
which they were conducted;
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of Gulf Cement Company P.S.C. (continued)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued)

vii) The company has not made any social contributions during the financial year ended December
31,2025 and;

viii)  Based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our attention
which causes us to believe that the Company has contravened during the financial year ended
December 31, 2025 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. (32) of
2021 as amended by Federal Dectee-Law No. 20 of 2025 or of its Article of Association which
would materially affect its activities or its financial position as at December 31, 2025,

!r‘d P.O Box: 1968
M Sharjah - U.A.E.
Anand Prabhu INTTRORMO,
Registration No: 5567 umring Limirad (SREN
Sharjah, United Arab Emirates
February 05, 2026



Gulf Cement Company P.S.C
Statement of profit or loss
For the year ended December 31, 2025

2025 2024
Notes AED AED
Revenue from contracts with customers 5 551,569,411 480,822,562
Other operating income 6 15,916,812 15,439,114
Raw materials, supplies and consumables (428,057,644) (410,096,185)
Changes in inventories of finished goods and wotk in
progress 7 (1,787,622) 4,655,826
Services (55,872,264) (36,839,481)
Staff cost (36,853,037) (29,268,987
Other operating expenses 10 (1,108,255) (766,446)
Depreciation and amortization expenses 11 (57,368,451) (58,189,081)
Operating loss (Earnings before interest and tax) (13,561,050) (34,242,678)
Investment income 12 3,864,356 3,015,787
Finance revenues 13 1,062,629 1,603,838
Finance costs 13 (4,321,318) (11,828,165)
Loss for the year, before tax (12,955,383) (41,451,218)
Income tax credit 25 4,962,473 .
Loss for the year, after tax (7,992,910) (41,451,218)
Earnings per share (EPS)
Basic and diluted loss per share 26 (0.02) (0.10)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 form an integral part of these financial statement
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C
Statement of other comprehensive income
For the year ended December 31, 2025

Notes

Loss for the year after tax

Other comprehensive income:

Other comprebensive inconte that will not be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods

Gain/ (loss) on disposal of investments carried at fair
value through other comptehensive income (FVTOCI) 16 (a)
Net change in fair value of investments carried at
FVTOCI 16 (b)

Total other comprehensive income/ (loss)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR

The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 form an integral part of these financial statement

2025 2024

AED AED
(7,992,910)  (41,451,218)
316,674 (31,238)
27,171 (3,778)
343,845 (35,016)
(7,649,065  (41486,234)

9



Gulf Cement Company P.S.C
Statement of financial position
As at December 31, 2025

2025 2024
Notes AED AED
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant & equipment 14 526,943,036 615,709,065
Right-of-usc asset 28 3,848,196 2,300,833
Investment property 15 - 7,936,000
Deferred tax asset 25 4,962,473 -
Investment carried at FVTOCI 16(a) 48,471 1,844,244
Trade and other reccivables 18 406,061 897,002
536,208,237 628,688,044
Current
Inventores 17 171,070,993 106,610,996
Trade and other receivables 18 145,601,298 114,806,984
Investment carried at Fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL) 16(b) - 13,664,856
Cash and cash equivalents 19 2,216,644 347,012
318,888,935 235,429,848
TOTAL ASSETS 855,097,172 864,117,892
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 20 410,548,410 410,548,410
Reserves 21 166,482,312 166,482,312
Fair value reserve 16(a) (12,827,850) (12,947,338)
Accumulated losses (65,251,553) (57,483,000)
Total equity 498,951,319 506,600,384
Liabilitics
Non-current
Employces’ end of service benefits 22 8,432,234 7,877,614
Leasc liability 28 2,208,249 1,531,227
10,640,483 9,408,841
Current
Bank borrowings 23 75,409,065 37,469,657
Trade and other payables 24 268,909,471 310,152,844
Lease liability 28 1,186,834 486,166
345,505,370 348,108,667
Total liabilities 356,145,853 357,517,508
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 855,097,172 864,117,892

The financial statements for the company have been approved by Board of Directors on February 5, 2026
and signed on its behalf by:

Sheikh m:qcr Khal

Chairman of tlié Board of Directors

The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 form an integral part of these financial statements

10
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C
Statement of cash flows
For the year ended December 31, 2025

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year before tax

Adjnstments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of right-of-use asset

Finance costs

Interest on lease liability

Provision for slow-moving inventories

Provision for employees' end of service indemnity
Reversal of provision for expected credit losses
Fair value gain on investment property
Unrealized gain on investments carried at FVTPL
Gain on sale of investments

Interest and dividend income

Finance income

Net changes in working capital

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other payables

Cash flows from: operations

Employees’ end of service benefits paid
Finance costs paid

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to property, plant and equipment
Purchase of investments carried at FVTOCI
Proceeds from disposal of investment in securities
Dividends received

Interest income

Net cash flows used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net movements in bank borrowings
Payment of lease liability

Dividends paid

Net cash generated from (used in) financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

The accompanying notes from 1 to 33 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Notes

14
11
13
13
22
12
12

12
13

22

14

16

28

19

2025 2024

AED AED
(12,955,383)  (41,451218)
56,807,898 57,979,914
560,553 209,167
4,092,733 11,690,859
134,765 63,393

- 2,128 864

975,371 777,262
(17,365) (1,004,222)

- (686,000)

. (2,198,059)
(3,864,356) (131,728)
(1,062,629) (1,603,838)
- (104,090)

44,671,587 25,580,304
15,895,363 (5,784,058)
(30,285,108)  (27,764,731)
(36,385,186) 72,816,087
(6,103,344) 64,347,602
(420,751) (1,244,586)
(8,319,199) (6,719,179)
(14,843,294) 56,883,837
(40,127,229)  (39,111,711)
- (251,124)

19,334,830 571,718
1,061,501 1,602,732
1,128 1,106
(19,729,770) _ (37,187.279)
37,939,408  (18,797,731)
(864,991) (556,000)
(631,721) (575,678)
36,442,696 (19,929,409)
1,869,632 (232,851)
347,012 579,863
2,216,644 347,012

12



Gulf Cement Company P.S.C

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended December 31, 2025

1 Corporate information

Gulf Cement Company P.S.C. (Public Shareholding Company) having license no. 32 is incorporated as a
public shareholding company by Emiri dectee number 24/77 issued by His Highness, The Ruler of Ras Al
Khaimah, U.A.E., in 1977. The address of the Company's registered office is P, O. Box 5295, Ras Al
Khaimah, United Arab Emirates.

The principal activities of the Company are production and marketing of all types of cement.

The Company’s shares are listed on Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (ADX). In the General Assembly
Meeting held on April 2, 2020, the shareholders approved the delisting of the Company’s shares from
Kuwait Stock Exchange (Boursa Kuwait). The last day of trading of the Company’s shates in Boutsa Kuwait
was on December 14, 2020.

TC MENA Holdings Ltd (“TCM?”), a subsidiaty of Buzzi S.p.A. (an Italian public company listed on the
Italian stock exchange and the ultimate parent entity holding 90% of TCM), became the ultimate reporting
party, following the mandatory tender offer approved by the UAE Securities and Commodities Authority
(SCA) and shareholders in their annual general meeting held on Aptil 17, 2025 completed acquisition of a
controlling stake of Gulf Cement Company PSC (“the Company”) effective May 8, 2025. Post-acquisition,
Gulf Cement Company PSC (“the Company”) will leverage strategic synergies to enhance operational
efficiency, expand market reach, and accelerate sustainable growth.

During the year, Federal Dectee Law No. 20 of 2025, amending Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 on
Commercial Companies, was issued on October 1, 2025 and became effective on November 15, 2025.

The amendments introduce a number of changes to the UAE corporate framework, including, among
others, enhanced flexibility in share capital structures, recognition of drag along and tag along rights, revised
rules for valuation of in kind contributions, transfer of company registration across jurisdictions, legal
transformation of companies without loss of legal personality, and alignment between mainland and free
zone regulatory regimes.

The Amending Law provides for transitional implementation arrangements, whereby the application of
certain provisions is phased, subject to the issuance of further implementing regulations and decisions by
the competent authorities. Accordingly, not all amendments are required to be adopted immediately upon
the effective date.

Management is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on the Company.

11 Going concern

Management has assessed the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for 2 period of at least
twelve months from the reporting date and has concluded that the going concern basis of preparation is
appropriate. This assessment reflects the continued strengthening of the Company’s operating and financial
position during the year. The Company generated EBITDA of AED 43.8 million, supported by sustained
improvements in pricing, an enhanced domestic sales mix and ongoing operational efficiencies. Liquidity
remained stable through access to AED 138 million of revolving banking facilities, of which approximately
AED 41.9 million remained undrawn at December 31, 2025, and the Company remained fully compliant
with all banking covenants throughout the year. The Company continues to meet day-to-day working
capital requitements through advance cash sales, disciplined inventory management, strong credit control
processes and established banking lines, including overdraft facilities that remain available and operational,
as evidenced by subsequent utilisation noted in bank statements. In addition, the USD 10 million overdraft
facility, backed by the majority shareholder, futther demonstrating lender support and readiness of
additional funding sources.

As at December 31, 2025, total revolving credit facilities of AED 138 million, including approximately
AED 41.9 million of undrawn limits, provide substantial liquidity headroom for the forecast period.

13



Gulf Cement Company P.S.C

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2025

1 Corporate information (continued)

1.1 Going concern (continued)

The Company has a consistent history of operating within 50%—-60% of its available banking limits,
reflecting prudent and conservative liquidity management.

Furthermore, the Company has implemented enhanced receivable-management practices, including a
reduction in customer credit petiods by 55 days, which is expected to accelerate cash collections, strengthen
the cash-conversion cycle and further support short-term liquidity.

Operational continuity is reinforced through the executon of a three-year fuel supply agreement with a key
supplier, securing a critical production input and providing greater predictability over operating costs and
production levels. Management’s forecasts assume the increased in normal producton activity and
anticipate further domestic revenue growth driven by existing sales contracts, newly generated local sales
and opportunities to engage strategic partnets through potential offtake arrangements. The Company also
benefits from strengthened governance and oversight following the acquisition by TCM, whose strategic
support, operational expertise and enhanced treasury monitoring directly contribute to financial discipline
and continued progress against the Company’s operational plans.

Management has prepared detailed cash-flow forecasts and conducted sensitivity analyses reflecting
reasonably possible changes in trading conditions. The results indicate that the Company is expected to
maintain sufficient liquidity headroom and meet its obligations as they fall due throughout the
going-concern assessment period. Even under an unlikely scenario involving a 20% reduction in the total
facility limit, the Company’s ability to continue as a going concetn over the next 12 months would remain
intact, suppotrted by stable cash flows and conservative levels of facility utilisation.

Considering these factors, together with the financing facilities currently in place and the enhanced strategic
support following the recent change in ownership, management, with oversight from the Board of
Directors, is confident that the Company has adequate financial and operational resources to continue as a
going concern. Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared on that basis.

2 Basis of preparation and statement of compliance

Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the company have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the IASB and applicable requirements of UAE Federal Law by Dectee No. 32 of
2021 on Commetcial Companies.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for investments carried at fair
value through profit or loss (FVIPL), investments catried at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCI) and investment property that have been measured at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements have been prepared in United Arab Emirates Dirthams (AED), which is the
Company’s functional currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest Dirthams except where otherwise

indicated.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2025

3 New or revised standard or interpretations

The following relevant standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards were issued by the
IASB which have been effective from January 1, 2025:

. Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21)

This amendment did not have a significant impact on this financial statements.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing Standards that are not yet
effective and have not been adopted early by the Company

Other standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been eatly adopted
by the Company include:

- Amendments to the Classification and Measutement of Financial Instruments(Amendments to
IFRS 7 and 9)

- Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11

- IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

- IFRS 18 'Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements

IFRS 18 introduces new presentation and disclosure requitements of additional totals in the statement of
profit or loss, a new note which discloses management-defined performance measures and enhancements
to the requirements for aggregation and disaggregation. Management is still in the process of assessing the
impact of the new standard, particularly with respect to the structure of the Company’s financial statement.
These remaining above standards, amendments and interpretations are not expected to have a significant
impact on the financial statements for the period of initial application and therefore no disclosures have
been made.

Standards issued by the International Sustainability Standards Board (ISSB)

On June 26, 2023, the ISSB published first two IFRS Sustainability Disclosure Standards at the IFRS
Foundation Conference 2023:

IFRS 51 General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Statements

IFRS 51 sets out overall requirements with the objective to require an entity to disclose information about
its sustainability-related risks and opportunities that is useful to the primary users of general purpose
financial reports in making decisions relating to providing resources to the entity.

IFRS S2 Climate-related disclosures

IFRS S2 sets out the requirements for identifying, measuring and disclosing information about climate-
related risks and opportunities that is useful to primary users of general purpose financial reports in making
decisions relating to providing resources to the entity.

Subject to adoption by the local jurisdiction, both Standards are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2024, with substantial transitional reliefs to allow preparers more time to align reporting
of sustainability related financial disclosures and financial statements. The Company did not adopt these
standards on the effective date given that they have not yet been adopted by the United Arab Emirates.
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4 Material accounting policies

a1 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or setvices ate transferred
to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services.

The Company has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements, because it typically
controls the goods or services before transferring them to the customer. There are no significant accounting
judgements, estimates and assumptions relating to revenue from contracts with customers.

Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the goods is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the goods at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods.

Dividend and interest income
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholdet’s right to receive payment has been
established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the asset’s net carrying amount.

Income from sale of electricity

Income from the sale of electricity is recognised monthly based on metered units consumed and
acknowledged by the customer. Revenue is measured at the agreed contractual unit price, and an invoice is
generated monthly for the electricity transferred.

Contract balances
Trade receivables

A receivable is recognised if an amount of consideration that is unconditional is due from the customer
(i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised if a payment is received, or a payment is due (whichever is eatlier) from a
customer before the Company transfers the related goods or setvices. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Company performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer),

4.2 Property, plant and equipment

Propetty, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment
and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. When significant
patts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a
major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the property, plant and
equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for the
decommissioning of the asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition
criteria for a provision are met.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.2 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on 2 straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the asset except for
certain plant and machinery and power stations which are depreciated using units of product method, as
follows:

Building 27 to 35 years
Plant and machinery 5 to 15 years / units of production
Power stations units of production
Vehicles and equipment 2 to 5 years
IT computer, hardware & softwate 3 years

Units of production rates are based on estimated remaining production units of the plant and machinery
and power stations measured in terms of tonnage and megawatts, respectively as of 1 January 2020 as
determined by an independent third-party consultant. These temaining production units ate estimated
considering operation and maintenance of the plant and machinery and power stations as per intetnationally
accepted industry standards.

An item of propetty, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss atising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the catrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of
profit of loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment ate reviewed
at each financial year end, and adjusted prospectively if, appropriate.

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses (refer accounting policy on
impairment), if any, until the construction is complete. Upon completion of construction, the cost of such
asset together with the cost directly attributable to consttuction (including botrowing costs and land rent
capitalised) are transferred to the respective class of assets. No depreciation is charged on capital work-in-

progress.

Spare parts that meet the definition of property, plant and equipment are capitalised as such and accounted
for accordingly. If spare parts do not meet the recognition critetia of propetty, plant and equipment, they
are either classified as inventory or consumed and recorded in the statement of profit or loss. Depreciation
of spare parts commences when they are put into use, rather than when they are acquired. Spare parts are
depreciated over the shorter of its useful life and the remaining expected useful life of the asset to which it
relates. Before the spare patts is available for setrvice, any reduction in value is reflected as an impairment
loss as per the requirements of IAS 36 when indicators of impairment are identified. Key assumptions used
by the management in assessing the impairment of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in note 4.5
and note 14.

4.3 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incutred in bringing each
product to its present location and condition are accounted for, as follows:

° Raw materials - purchase cost on a weighted average basis
. Finished goods and work in progress - cost of direct materials and labour and a propottion of
manufacturing overheads based on the normal operating capacity, but excluding borrowing costs.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.3 Inventories (continued)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the otdinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

4.4 Financial instruments

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, FVTOCI
and FVIPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s conttactual cash
flow characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component ot for which the Company has applied
the practical expedient, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at FVIPL, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price under IFRS 15,

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI, it needs to give
tise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at FVTPL, irtrespective of the
business model.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost ate held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows while financial assets classified and measured at FVTOCI are held
within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace (tegular way trades) ate recognised on the trade date, i.e., the
date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Company’s financial assets include bank balances, trade and other receivables, investments carried at
FVTOCI and FVIPL.

Subsequent measurement

For putposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in the following categories:

° Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets at FVTOCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses

. Financial assets designated at FVTOCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon
derecognition

° Financial assets at FVIPL
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)
4.4 Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and
ate subject to impairment. Gains and losses ate recognised in profit ot loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

The Company’s financial assets at amortised cost includes bank balances and trade and other receivables.

Financial assets designated at FVTOCIT (eguity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect to classify itrevocably its equity investments as equity
insttuments designated at FVT'OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-

by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
investment income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
except when the Company benefits from such proceeds as a tecovery of part of the cost of the financial
asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCIL. Equity instruments designated at FVTOCI are not
subject to impairment assessment.

The Company elected to classify irrevocably its non-listed equity investments and certain listed equity
investments under this category.

Financial assets at FI/TPL

Financial assets at FVIPL ate carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes listed equity investments which the Company had not irrevocably elected to
classify at FVT'OCL Dividends on listed equity investments are recognised as investment income in the
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, whete applicable, a patt of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of financial position) when:

o The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o The Company has transferred its rights to teceive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the tisks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferted control of the asset.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)
4.4 Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewatds of ownership.
When it has neither transfetred not retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor
transferred control of the asset, the Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
its continuing involvement. In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability ate measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Company could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive. The
shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the asset’s original effective intetest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within the next 12-months (2 12-month ECL). For those ctredit exposures for which there
has been a significant increase in credit tisk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is requited for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).

For trade receivables, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Thetefore, the
Company does not track changes in credit risk but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL’ at each reporting date. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment. ECLs are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recoverting the contractual cash flows.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)
4.4 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at FVTPL, loans and

borrowings, payables, or as detivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade payables, bank bortowings, other payables and lease
liability,
Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as described below:

o Financial liabilities at FVIPL
° Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

This is the categoty most relevant to the Company. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings ate subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are detecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement
of profit or loss.

This category generally applies to trade payables, bank botrowings, other payables and lease Lability.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing lability ate substandally modified, such an exchange ot
modification is treated as the derecognition of the otiginal liability and the recognition of a new liability.
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is a cutrently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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4.5 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates
the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to theit present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent matket transactions ate taken into account.
If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are
corroborated by other available fair value indicators.

The Company bases its impaitment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are
prepated sepatately for each of the Company’s CGUs to which the individual assets ate allocated. These
budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a year of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated
and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except fot properties previously revalued and
the tevaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. For such properties, the impairment is
recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date whether there is any indication
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication
exists, the Company estimates the asset’s or CGUs recoverable amount. A previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed only if thete has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the income statement unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case, the teversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

4.6 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs ditectly attributable to the acquisition, consttuction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part
of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the year in which they occur. Botrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.7 Investment property

Investment property is measured initially at cost, including ttansaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is stated at fair value, which reflects matket conditions at the teporting
date. Gains or losses atising from changes in the fair values of investment propetty ate included in profit
or loss in the year in which they arise. Fair values are determined based on an annual valuation petformed
by an accredited external independent valuer.

Investment property is derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when they ate permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit ot loss in the
year of derecognition. In determining the amount of consideration from the derecognition of investment
property, the Company considers the effects of vatiable consideration, existence of a significant financing
component, non-cash consideration, and consideration payable to the buyer (if any).

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer
from investment propetty to ownet-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the
fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment propetty, the
Company accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and
equipment up to the date of change in use.

4.8 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability in an otdetly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

° In the principal matket for the asset or lability; ot
. In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal ot the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market patticipant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another matket participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the citcumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant obsetvable inputs and minimising the use
of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured ot disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
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4.8 Fair value measurement (continued)

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

° Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the
Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)
at the end of each reporting yeat.

The Company measures financial assets such as investment in quoted and unquoted securities and non-
financial assets such as investment in properties, at fair value at each balance sheet date.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities on
the basis of the nature, charactetistics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value
hierarchy, as explained above.

Fair value related disclosures for financial insttuments and non-financial assets that are measured at fair
value or where fair values ate disclosed, are summatised in notes 15, 16 and 31.

4.9 Current versus non-current classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on current/non-current
classification. An asset as current when it is:

Expected to be realised ot intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle

Held primarily for the purpose of trading

Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting year, or

Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting year

All other assets ate classified as non-current. A liability is current when:

° It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
o It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
® It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting year, or

There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting year

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.
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4.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comptise cash at banks and on hand
and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

4.11 Dividend

The Company recognises a liability to pay a dividend when the distribution is authotised, and the
distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Company. As pet the Company’s Article of Association, a
distribution is authorised when it is approved by the shareholders and in accordance with the rules,
resolutions and circulations issued by the Securities and Commodities Authority.

4.12 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal of constructive) as a result of
a past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Whete the
Company expects some ot all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract,
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any
reimbursement.

4.13 Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility
of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognised
in the financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

4.14 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

UAE national employees of the Company are members of the Government-managed retitement pension
and social security benefit scheme pursuant to the applicable Federal Labour Law. The Company is requited
to contribute 12.5% of the “contsibution calculation salary” of payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The employees and the Govetnment contribute 5% and 2.5% of the
“contribution calculation salary” respectively, to the scheme. For the new employees after 31 October 2023,
employee contribution has increased from 5% to 11%. The only obligation of the Company with respect
to the retirement pension and social security scheme is to make the specified contributions (12.5%). The
conttibutions are charged to profit or loss.

Annnal leave
An accrual is made for the estimated liability for employees' entitlement to annual leave as a result of services

rendered by eligible employees up to the end of the year.

Provision for employees’ end of service indemmnity

The Company provides end of setvice benefits to its expatriate employees. The entitlement to these
benefits is based upon the employees’ salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum
service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. The accrual
relating to annual leave is disclosed as a current liability, while the provision relating to end of service
indemnity is disclosed as a non-current liability.
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4.15 Leases

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, ot contains, a lease. That is, if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Company as a lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets,

i) Right-of-nse assets

The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e, the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shotter of the lease term and the estimated useful life of the
asset of 5 years.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. The
right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment.

ii) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measuted at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, vatiable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Company and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company
exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the petiod in which the event
ot condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is 2 modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change
in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

7i1) Short-ferm leases and leases of low-value assets
The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered to
be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)
4.16 Taxes

Current income tax

Curtrent income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from ot paid
to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount ate those that are enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Company operates and generates
taxable income.

Current income tax telating to items recognised directly in equity is tecognised in equity and not in the
statement of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulations ate subject to interpretation and establishes provisions
where appropriate.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporaty differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

° When the deferred tax liability atises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset ot liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

° In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaties, associates
and interests in joint arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporaty differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Defetred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporaty difference atises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

° In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaties,
associates and interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utlised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, the Company relies on the same forecast assumptions
used elsewhere in the financial statements and in other management reports, which, among other things,
reflect the potential impact of climate-related development on the business, such as increased cost of
production as a result of measures to reduce carbon emission.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)
4.16 Taxes (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred
tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity.

The Company offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable
tight to set off cutrent tax assets and cutrent tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities telate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authotity on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, ot to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled ot recovered.

Value added tax

Expenses and assets ate recognised net of the amount of value added tax (VAT), except:

i When the VAT incurred on a putchase of assets ot setrvices is not recoverable from the taxation
authortity, in which case, the VAT is recognised as patt of the cost of acquisition of the asset ot as
patt of the expense item, as applicable.

° When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of VAT included.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

4.17 Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign cutrencies ate initially recorded at the spot rates at the date the transaction qualifies
for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the spot
rates of exchange at the reporting date. All differences are taken to the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign cutrency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign cutrency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The
gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain ot loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income
(ot part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance
consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which the Company initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Company determines the transaction date for each payment or
teceipt of advance consideration.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.18 Events after the reporting period

If the Company receives information after the reporting petiod, but prior to the date of authorisation for
issue, about conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information
affects the amounts that it recognises in its financial statements. The Company will adjust the amounts
recognised in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and update
the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light of the new information. For non-adjusting events
after the reporting petiod, the Company will not change the amounts recognised in its financial statements
but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting event and an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement
that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requites management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of assets or liabilities affected in future years.

4.19 Significant management judgements and estimates in applying accounting
policies

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the catrying
amount of assets or liabilities affected in future years.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Going concern

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern and believes that the Company has the necessary required resources to enable it to continue its
operations and meet its obligations as and when they fall due (note 1.1).

Based on the above, the management and the Board of Directors believe that the Company will be able to
continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future, and accordingly, the financial statements of the
Company have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Classification of tnvestments

Management designates at the time of acquisition of securities whether these should be classified as at
FVTOCI or FVIPL. In judging whether investments in securities are as at FVTOCI or FVIPL,
management has considered the detailed criteria for determination of such classification as set out in IFRS
9, and accordingly management is satisfied that its investments in secutities are approptiately classified.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.19 Significant management judgements and estimates in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Conponent paris of property, plant and equipment

The Company’s assets classified within property, plant and equipment, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their economic useful lives ot the units of production method. When determining the economic
useful life of an asset, it is broken down into significant component patts such that each significant
component part is depreciated separately. Judgement is required in ascertaining the significant components
of a larger asset, and while defining the significance of a component, management considers quantitative
matetiality of the component part as well as qualitative factors such as difference in useful life as compared
to main asset, its pattern of consumption, and its replacement cycle/maintenance schedule.

Classification of properties

Management decides at the time of acquisition of a property whether it should be classified as property,
plant and equipment or investment property. The Company classifies properties as property, plant and
equipment when the properties ate held for use by, ot in the operations, of the Company. Properties ate
classified as investment properties when the intention is to hold them for capital appreciation, for rental or
for undetermined use. The Company changes the classification when its intention changes.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of defetred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the
level of future taxable profits.

The Company has AED 54.9 million of tax losses cattied forward. These losses do not expire and may be
used to offset taxable income in future years for an indefinite period. Company has recognised deferted tax
assets of AED 4.9 million in expectation of utilisation of these losses and Company generating substantial
taxable profits in the future yeats.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date, that have a significant tisk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Company based its assumptions and
estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing citcumstances and
assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances
atising that are beyond the control of the Company. Such changes ate reflected in the assumptions when
they occur.

30



Gulf Cement Company P.S.C

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2025

4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.19 Significant management judgements and estimates in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (continued)
Units of production depreciation

Certain property, plant and equipment are depteciated using the units of production (UOP) method based
on the remaining production capacity as determined by an independent third-patty consultant as of 1
January 2020. This results in a depreciation charge proportional to the estimated production capacity of the
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Each items’ life, which is assessed annually, has regard to
both its physical life limitations and to present assessments of the remaining production capacity assuming
the operation and maintenance of the property, plant, and equipment as per internationally accepted
industry standards. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the number
of remaining units of productions and estimates of future capital expenditure.

The calculation of the UOP rate of deptreciation could be impacted to the extent that actual production in
the future is different from current forecast production or futute capital expenditure estimates changes.

Changes to estimated production capacity could arise due to changes in the factors or assumptions used in
estimating capacity, including the below:

Unforeseen operational issues

Manufactuting defects

Improper modifications

Improper replacements

Poor maintenance practices

. Reducing costly unscheduled outages caused by in-setvice failures

® @ o @

Provision for excpected credit losses of trade receivables

The Company uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit
and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Company’s historical observed default rates. The Company
will calibrate the mattix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
Fort instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) ate expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of
forecast economic conditions. The Company’s historical credit loss expetience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Company’s trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in note 18 and note 32.
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4.19 Significant management judgements and estimates in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables (continued)

As at December 31, 2025, gross trade receivables amounted to AED 126.3 million (2024: AED 100.6
million) and the provision for expected credit losses amounted to AED 2.8 million (2024: AED 2.8 million).

Excistence of inventories

Inventories comprise of purchased raw materials (limestone, sand, slag, gypsum, iron ote and bauxite) and
work in progress (mainly clinker which are stored in purpose built shed and stockpiles). Since the weighing
of these inventories is not practicable, management assesses the quantities on hand at the year-end by
obtaining measurements of the stockpiles and convetrting these measurements to unit of volumes by using
the angle of repose and the bulk density. In doing so, management appoints an independent surveyor to
estimate the quantities by using certain scientific systematic measurements calculations and applying the
density conversion methods which are applied for similar stock in the cement industry.

Tmpairment of inventories

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete,
an estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this estimation is
performed on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which ate old or
obsolete, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degtree
of ageing or obsolescence, based on anticipated selling prices.

At the reporting date, gross inventories were AED 209 million (2024: AED 121.7 million) with provision
for old and obsolete inventories of AED 37.9 million (2024: AED 15.1 million). Any differences between
the amounts actually realised in future years and the amounts expected will be recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities tecorded in the statement of financial position
cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using observable
or unobservable valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow (DCF) model, where appropriate.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable matkets where possible, but where this is not feasible,
a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs
such as liquidity risk, credit tisk and volatility. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect
the reported fair value of financial instruments.

Tmpairmient of non-financial assets

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use, The fair value less
costs of disposal calculation is based market approach (i.e. sales comparison method) and cost approach
(i.e. depreciated replacement cost method). The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model.
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4.19 Significant management judgements and estimates in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (continued)
Tmpairment of non-financial assets (continued)

The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities
that the Company is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the
performance of the assets of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount
rate used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for
extrapolation purposes. The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the CGU ate
disclosed in note 14.

Fair value of investment property

The Company carries its investment property at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. For investment propetty, a valuation methodology based on the cutrent
prices in an active market for similar properties is used. In the absence of such information, the Company
determined the amounts within a range of reasonable fair value estimates. In making its judgment, the
Company considers recent prices of similar properties in the same location and similar conditions, with
adjustments to reflect any changes in the natute, location or economic conditions since the date of the
transactions that occurred at those prices. Such estimation is based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results.

The Company engaged an independent valuation specialist to assess fair value as at December 31, 2025.
The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the property and sensitivity analysis are provided
in note 15.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment, exclnding power stations and a production line classified as part of plant and
machinery

The Company’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment for
calculating depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset or
physical wear and tear. Management reviews the residual value and useful lives annually and future
depreciation charge would be adjusted where the management believes the useful lives differ from ptevious
estimates.

Usefud lives of Spare Paris

Management is required to exercise judgement when assessing the expected useful lives and consumption
patterns of spare patts used in the Company’s production processes. Following the acquisition by TCM,
management used group technical team expertise to reassess the expected consumption life of spare patts.
The new operational and technical information indicated that some items are expected to be consumed
within a single operating cycle rather than providing multi-petiod service potental. Accordingly, the
resulting change in useful life of the spare parts represents a revision of an accounting estimate. In
accordance with IAS 8 the revision is applied prospectively, and no comparative figures have been restated.
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5 Revenue from contract with customers
a) Disaggregated revenue information

Set out below is the disaggregation of the tevenue from contracts with customers:

2025 2024

AED AED
Type of revenue
Sale of goods 551,569,411 480,822,562
Geographical markets
Within UAE 396,417,009 262,752,210
QOutside UAE 155,152,402 218,070,352
Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time 551,569,411 480,822,562

Revenue includes AED 294.3 million which represents 53% of total revenue from 7 customers (2024
AED 311.2 million which represents 65% of total revenue from 7 customers).

b) Contract balances
2025 2024
AED AED
Asset
Trade teceivables (note 18) 123,490,007 97,755,538
2025 2024
AED AED
Liability
Advances from customers (note 24) 22,069,885 13,377,660
c) Performance obligations

The performance obligation on sales of goods is satisfied upon delivery and payment is generally due within
90 to 125 days from delivery (2024: 150 to 180 days).

6 Other operating income
2025 2024
AED AED
Sale of electricity to customer 13,560,211 11,487,344
Sales of scrap 2,339,236 2,857,548
Reversal of provision 17,365 1,094,222

15,916,812 15,439,114
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7 Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress

2025 2024
AED AED

Inventories as at December 31
Finished goods 2,975,277 9,623,268
Work in progtress 39,858,793 34,998,424
42,834,070 44,621,692

Inventories as at January 1
Finished goods 9,623,268 9,719,041
Work-in-progress 34,998,424 30,246,825
44,621,692 39,965,866
(Decrease)/ increase in inventoties (1,787,622) 4,655,826
8 Services

2025 2024
AED AED
Transportation 24,776,694 21,443,948
Maintenance and contractual services 16,470,608 5,691,156
Insurance 4,443,063 2,850,532
Legal and professional consultancy 4,090,636 2,424.315
Operating leases of property and machinery 1,736,637 1,602,758
Travel 382,900 12,887
Other* 3,971,726 2,813,885
55,872,264 36,839,481

*Qthers include Board members fee (note 27), communication Cost, canteen, bank charges and other

administrative costs, among othets.

9 Staff cost
2025 2024
AED AED
Salaries and wages 34,947,466 28,104,713
Other long-term benefits 1,905,571 1,164,274
36,853,037 29,268,987
10 Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses, related to both the ordinary and the non-recurring course of business, are

composed as follows:

2025 2024

AED AED

Indirect taxes and duties 689,479 335,606
Other expenses 418,776 430,840
1,108,255 766,446
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i1 Depreciation and amortization expenses
2025 2024
AED AED
Right-of-use assets (note 28) 560,553 209,167
Property, plant and equipment (note 14) 56,807,898 57,979,914
57,368,451 58,189,081

12 Investment Income

2025 2024
AED AED
Gain on disposal of investments carried at FVIPL (note 16b) 3,530,356 131,728
Gain on disposal of investment propetty (note 15) 334,000 -
Untealized gain on tevaluation of investments carried at FVTPL (note 16b) - 2,198,059
Untealised fair Value gain on Investment Property (note 15) 686,000

3,864,356 3,015,787

13 Finance revenues and finance costs
Finance Revenue 2025 2024
AED AED
Dividend income 1,061,501 1,602,732
Interest income 1,128 1,106
1,062,629 1,603,838
Finance Cost 2025 2024
AED AED
Interest on overdue payables 1,065,025 6,135,211
Interest on bank borrowings 3,027,708 3,756,687
Intetest on unwinding of long-term payables - 149,114
Interest on lease liability (note 28) 134,765 63,393
Others 93,820 1,723,760

4,321,318 11,828,165
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2025

14 Property and equipment (continued)

Duting the yeat ended December 31, 2025, no impairment losses (2024: Nil) has been recognised against
property, plant and equipment (“PPE”), to adjust the carrying value to its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount assessed as at December 31, 2025 and 2024 was based on value in use calculated using
the discounted cash flow approach over the period of next 5 years determined at the level of CGU with a
terminal growth rate assumed after the 5th year. The CGU consisted of whole block of PPE as all the assets
are used inseparably to provide setvice to customers that generate the cash flows. In arriving at the value
in use of the PPE, the Company has projected the future cash flows for a period of five yeats using the
following assumptions:

2025 2024
Discount rate 11.75% 10%
Growth rate on price per ton 2% 2.50%
Terminal year growth rate 1.50% 1.50%
Fuel and power price refer below refer below

Fuel and power price include coal and gas ptices. Average coal prices are obtained from published indices
for the countries from which materials are sourced, as well as data relating to specific commodities. Forecast
figures of coal is based on publicly available data if available otherwise average five-year actual coal prices
are used as an indicator of the future price. In case of gas, forecast figures is derived basis of average of
five-year actual gas prices as an indicator of the future price including by reference to agreement entered
with the supplier.

Value in use is higher than the carrying amount of the PPE as at December 31, 2025. Hence, no impairment
losses were recorded by the Company.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risk specific to the CGU, taking into
consideration the time value of money and individual risks of the undetlying assets that have not been
incotpotated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate is derived from the weighted average cost of
capital, which takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is detived from the expected
tetutn on investment of the Company’s investors. The cost of debt is based on average lending rates.
Segment specific risk is incotporated by applying individual beta factors, evaluated annually based on
publicly available market data. An increase in discount rate by 1.65% (2024: 1.65%) in the CGU would
result in impairment of AED Nil (2024: AED 3 million).

On average, the revenue of the CGU over the next five years is projected to grow in line with the economy
or with real Gross Domestic Product. Histotically, cement industry growth had a ditect correlation with
economic growth. A reducton by 2% (2024: 2%) in the growth rate on price per ton in the CGU would
result in impairment of AED Nil (2024: AED :0.5 million)

The tetminal year growth rate is based on the projected growth of the Company, which is in line with its
historical expedence, economic conditions of the countries where the Company opetates, and the
Company’s future plans. A reduction by 2% (2024: 2%) in the terminal year growth rate in the CGU would
result in impairment of AED Nil (2024: AED 0.2 million).

If prices of fuel and power increase on average by 3.1% (2024: 3%), the Company would result in
impairment of AED 8.94 million (AED: 14.8 million).
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2025

14 Property and equipment (continued)

) At December 31, 2025, the cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment that is still in
use amounted to AED 674.3 million (2024: AED 731.5 million).

b) Depreciation on spate parts is not charged until such time as these assets are placed in service
and transferred to the respective categories of property, plant and equipment.

) The factory and its telated buildings ate constructed on plots of land owned by the Government
of Ras Al Khaimah. All propetty, plant and equipment ate located in the UAE.

d) Included within additions is plot of land valued at AED 8,270,000 transferred from investment
property upon change in use to owner-occupation (staff accommodation). The amount represents
the fair value at the date of transfer, recognised as deemed cost in accordance with IAS 40/IAS 16.

€ Duting the yeat, management reassessed the pattern of consumption of certain spare partts
previously classified within propetty, plant and equipment (refer to note4.19 — Significant
Judgements and estimates). As a result of this reassessment, these items were reclassified to
inventory an amount of AED 103.1 million at cost and AED 22.7 million impairment. (Subsequent
to the reassessment, which was applied prospectively from 1 October 2025, the reclassification
tesulted in reduced depreciation of AED 1.8 million and increased maintenance expense of
AED 14.8 million, with a net impact on profit ot loss of AED 13 million for the period from
October 1 to December 31, 2025.

1)) Thete is a negative pledge over ptoperty, plant and equipment against borrowings (note 23).

g Assignment of fire insurance policy over moveable property, plant and equipment in relation to
banking facilities obtained by the Company (note 23).

15 Investment Property

2025 2024

AED AED

Balance at January 1 7,936,000 7,250,000
Change in fair value (note 12) - 686,000
Gain on exchange of land (note 12) 334,000 -
Reclassified to property plant & equipment (note 14) (8,270,000) 2
Balance at December 31 - 7,936,000

Investment propetty represents plots of land in Ras Al Khaimah.

During the year, the Company exchanged an existing plot of land for another parcel of land. Based on an
independent valuation, the transaction resulted in a gain of AED 334,000, which has been recognised in
statement profit or loss.

Subsequently, management resolved to utilise the newly acquired land for the construction of staff
accommodation. As a result, the property no longer meets the definition of investment property under IAS
40 and has been reclassified to property, plant and equipment (IAS 16) at its fair value on the date of
reclassification. Accotdingly, the full carrying amount of AED 8,270,000 has been transferred to property,
plant and equipment. As a result of the reclassification, the Company held no investment property at
December 31, 2025 (2024: AED 7,936,000).

The fair value of the Company’s investment property (prior to reclassification) and 2024 has been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out at by an independent and competent valuer. The valuation was
arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.
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15 Investment Property (continued)

The Company’s investment property is classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and there were no
transfers between the Levels 1, 2 and 3 duting 2025 and 2024.

The Company has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment property and no contractual
obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or for repairs, maintenance and
enhancements.

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation of investment propetty:

Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable input Range (weighted average)
2025 2024
Current market rate for
comparable properties that
Plot of land have been sold in nearby
area Rate per sq. ft. AED 55 AED 37

Significant increases/ (decteases) in estimated rate per square feet in isolation would result in a
significantly higher (lower) fair value of the investment property.

16 Investment in securities

a) Investments carried at FVTOCI
2025 2024
AED AED
Quoted 33,815 1,949,076
Unquoted 12,842,506 12,842,506
Total gross investments at FVTOCI at cost 12,876,321 14,791,582
Less: accumulated fair value reserve, net (12,827,850)  (12,947,338)

48,471 1,844,244

The geographical spread of the above investments is as follows:

2025 2024
Concentration Fair Concentration Fair
Percentage C()St value pefcentage COSt value
on fair value AED AED on fair value AED AED
Kuwait 100% 12,876,321 48,471 100% 14,791,582 1,844,244
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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16 Investment in securities (Continued)

a) Investments carried at FVTOCI (continued)

The cumulative change in fair value of investments carried at FVTOCI amounted to negative AED 12.8
million as at December 31, 2025 (2024: negative AED 12.9 million) and is shown under equity. Duting the
year ended December 31, 2025, the Company has transferred AED 92,317 (2024: AED 11,651) from faix
value reserve to accumulated losses arising from the disposal of investments cattied at FVT'OCI. The total
proceeds from the disposal of investments carried at FVTOCI amounted to AED 2.1 million (2024: AED
0.21 million) resulting to a gain of AED 0.3 million (2024: loss of AED 0.03 million) which is shown in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Equity instruments designated at FVTOCI include investments in equity shares of listed and non-listed
companies. The Company holds non-controlling interests in these companies. These investments were
itrevocably designated at FVTOCI as the Company considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

b) Investments carried at FVTPL
2025 2024
AED AED
Quoted investments at cost - 7,409,192
Unquoted 8,299,928 8,299,928
Total gross investments at FVIPL at cost 8,299,928 15,709,120
Less: cumulative changes in fair value (8,299,928) (2,044,264
Fair value of investments - 13,664,856
The geographical spread of the above investments is as follows:
2025 2024
Concentration Cost Fairvalue Concentration Cost  Fair value
percentage PCICEﬂtﬂgE
on fair value AED AED on fair value AED AED
UAE - - - 100% 7,409,192 13,664,856
Other GCC
countties - 8,299,928 - 0% 8,299,928 -
- 8,299,928 - 100% 15,709,120 13,664,856

The total proceeds from the disposal of investments cartied at FVIPL amounted to AED 17.2 million
(2024: AED 0.36 million) resulting to a gain of AED 3.5 million (2024: gain of AED 0.13 million) which is
shown in the statement of profit or loss (note 12).

Movement in investment in securities is as follows:

Fair value of investments as at the January 1

Additions made during the year

Disposals made during the year at carrying value

Unrealized gain on revaluation of investments carried at FVIPL (note 12)
Unrealized gain/(loss) on revaluation of investments carried at FVTOCI

Fair value of investments as at the December 31

2025 2024
AED AED
15,509,100 13,534,923
. 251,124
(15,487,800)  (471,228)
- 2,198,059

27,171 (3,778)
48,471 15,509,100
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17 Inventories

Finished goods

Raw materals

Work in progress

Bags, fuel and lubricants
Spare parts*
Consumable items
Tools

Less: provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventories (note (c))

2025 2024

AED AED
2,975,277 9,623,268
2,910,134 8,662,483
39,858,793 34,998,424
22,844,956 31,024,104
116,544,020 26,043,373
23,442,919 10,951,860
441,333 461,903
209,017,432 121,765,415
(37,946,439)  (15,154,419)
171,070,993 106,610,996

* It includes an amount of AED 103.1 million cost reclassified from propetty, plant and equipment to
inventory following management’s reassessment of their expected consumption pattern. (note 14(e)).

a) Assignment of fire insurance policy over inventories in relation to banking facilities obtained by

the Company (note 23).

b) Inventories are pledged against banking facilities obtained by the Company (note 23).

) Movement in provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventories during the year is as follows:
2025 2024
AED AED
Balance as at January 1 15,154,419 13,025,555
Reclassification (note 14(e)) 22,792,020 -
Provision duting the year - 2,128,864
Balance as at December 31 37,946,439 15,154,419

18 Trade and other receivables

2025 2024
AED AED
Trade receivables 126,307,444 100,590,340
Less: provision for expected credit losses (note 18(a)) (2,817,437)  (2,834,802)
123,490,007 97,755,538
Prepayments 3,475,793 3,547,780
Advance to suppliers 5,473,191 6,484,440
Other receivables 12,662,307 6,511,067
Receivable from sale of an associate 906,061 1,406,061
146,007,359 115,704,886
Less: receivable from sale of an associate due after one year (406,061) (897,902)
145,601,298 114,806,984
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18 Trade and other receivables (continued)

a)  Movement in provision for expected credit losses during the year is as follows:

2025 2024

AED AED

Balance as at January 1 2,834,802 3,929,024
Reversal for the year (note 6) (17,365)  (1,094,222)
Balance as at December 31 2,817,437 2,834,802
b) In detetmining the tecoverability of trade receivables, the Company considers any significant

change in the credit quality of the trade receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to

the teporting date.

) Analysis of gross trade receivables are set out below:
2025 2024
AED AED
Secured against unconditional bank guarantees 31,157,119 29,271,069
Secured against letter of credit 6,594,477 2,169,311
Unsecuted 88,555,848 69,149,960
126,307,444 100,590,340

d) The average credit period on sale of goods is 90 days to 125 days (2024: 150 days to 180 days).

e) Trade receivables amounting to AED 87.6 million (2024: AED 83.4 million) is due from the
Company’s five largest customers representing 69% (2024: 83%) of the total outstanding balance

at December 31, 2025,
f) Ageing analysis of gross trade receivables are as follows:
Days past due
1-90 91-180 above
Not due days days 180 days Total
AED AED AED AED AED
2025
Expected credit loss rate - 7% 100% 100% 2%
Estimated total gross carrying
amount 117,971,330 5,933,536 674,604 1,727,974 126,307,444
Expected credit loss - 414,859 674,604 1,727,974 2,817,437
2024
Expected credit loss rate 0 5% 100% 100% 3%
Estimated total gross carrying
amount 84,876,827 13,489,017 328,225 1,896,271 100,590,340
Expected ctedit loss 610,306 328,225 1,896,271 2,834,802 610,306

g  Assignment of trade receivables in relation to banking facilities obtained by the Company (note 23).

Information on the credit risk exposure is disclosed in note 32.
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19 Cash and cash equivalents
2025 2024
AED AED
Cash on hand Epel e
Bank balances:
Current accounts 2,178,535 281,320
Call deposits (note 19 (a)) 32,782 41,573

2,211,317 322,893
2,216,644 347,012

a)  Call deposits catry intetest at commercial rates per annum and are made for a period of less than
three months.

b)  Bank balance amounting to AED 0.06 million (2024: AED 0.06 million) is under the legal ownership
of the Company but for the beneficial interest of its employees. Therefore, the bank balance is not
included in the statement of financial position of the Company,

20 Share capital

2025 2024
AED AED
Issued and fully paid:
410,548,410 (2024: 410,548,410) ordinary shares of AED 1 each 410,548,410 410,548,410
21 Reserves

According to the Company's Articles of Association and the requirements of the U.A.E. Federal Decree
Law No. 32 of 2021, 10% of the ptofit of each year is transferred to the statutory reserve. The transfer to
statutory resetve may be suspended when it reaches 50% of the paid-up share capital. Statutory reserve is
not available for distribution except as stipulated by the Law.

Accotding to the Company's Atticles of Association, 10% of the profit for each year is transferred to the
voluntary reserve. The transfer to voluntaty reserve may be suspended by the ordinary general assembly at
the recommendation of the Board of Directors or when it reaches 20% of the Company's paid-up shatre

capital.

As at December 31, 2022, the statutoty reserve exceeded the 50% of the paid-up share capital. In prior
yeats, upon the approval and recommendation by the regulatory authorities in the UAE, the management
had decided to maintain the statutory reserve at the same level.

On November 14, 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors has resolved to set off the accumulated losses
of AED 182,180,729 by utilising an equivalent amount standing to the credit of available reserves, which is
apptoved by the shateholders in the general meeting held on December 20, 2023, and Securities and
Commodities Authority (SCA). This resulted in 2 decrease in the accumulated losses and a corresponding
reduction in the statutory and voluntary reserves of the Company.
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22 Employees’ end of service benefits
2025 2024
AED AED
Provision as at 1 January 7,877,614 8,344,938
Provided during the yeatr 975,371 777,262
Payments made during the year (420,751)  (1,244,586)
Provision as at 31 December 8,432,234 7,877,614

23 Bank borrowings

2025 2024
AED AED
Bank overdraft facilities 41,734,347 8,330,331
Short-term loans 33,674,718 28,639,326
Total bank bottowings 75,409,065 37,469,657

a) The Company’s overdraft balances are repayable on demand and short-term loans ate repayable
within twelve months. The overdraft balances and short-term loan catries interest rates at market
rates based on EIBOR and SOFR plus a spread and are secured against promissory note issued by
the Company and cettain other securities such as assignment of fire insurance policy over inventory
(note 17(2)) and movable property, plant and equipment (note 14(g)), assignment of trade
receivables (note 18) and pledge over inventoties (note 17(b)) and a negative pledge over property,
plant and equipment (note 14(f)).

b) Bank overdrafts are considered a form of financing and hence not included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows.

o) The Company had covenants on EBITDA to debt service ratio, leverage ratio and minimum
tangible net worth which had to be complied with as per the underlying facility agreements. These
covenants were complied with as at December 31, 2025 and 2024.

24 Trade and other payables

2025 2024

AED AED

Trade payables 195,778,284 255,085,983
Unclaimed dividend 24,753,851 25,385,572
Accrued expenses 24,212,557 9,480,297
Advances from customets 22,069,885 13,377,660
Interest payable 1,235,025 5,461,491
VAT payable 668,056 836,336
Other payables 191,813 525,505

268,909,471 310,152,844
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24 Trade and other payables (Continued)

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:

= Trade payables ate non-interest beating and are normally settled on and average of 150 days (2024:
120-day terms).
" Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months.

For explanations on the Company’s liquidity tisk management processes, refer to note 32,
25 Income tax

On December 9, 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released Federal Decree-Law No. 47 of 2022 on the
Taxation of Corporations and Businesses (Corporate Tax Law or the Law) to enact a Federal corporate tax
(CT) tegime in the UAE. The CT tegime will become effective for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 June 2023.

Decision No. 116 of 2022 (published in December 2022 and consideted to be effective from January 16,
2023) specifies that taxable income not exceeding AED 375,000 would be subject to a 0% UAE CT tate,
and taxable income exceeding AED 375,000 would be subject to the 9% UAE CT rate. With the publication
of this Decision, the UAE CT Law is considered to have been substantively enacted for the purposes of
accounting for Income Taxes,

Subsequently, the UAE CT Law has been supplemented by a number of Decisions of the Cabinet of
Ministets of the UAE (Decisions). Such Decisions and other interpretive guidance of the UAE Federal Tax
Authority provide important details relating to the interpretation of the UAE CT Law and are required to
fully evaluate the impact of the UAE CT Law on the Company. The Company is subject to the provisions
of the UAE CT Law for the year ended December 31, 2025.

Reconciliation of tax expense and accounting loss is as follows:

2025 2024
AED AED
Accounting loss before tax (12,955,383) (41,451,218)
At United Arab Emirates’ statutory cotporate tax rate of 9% (2024: nil)
Adjustments for amounts which are non-deductible / (taxable) in
calculating
taxable income:
Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes 423,917 59,497
Exempt income (994,699) (616,714)
Gain on disposal of land 1,020,000 (686,000)
Gain/ (loss) on disposal of investments carried at FVTOCI 316,674 (31,238)
Net change in fair value of investments cattied at FVTOCI 27,11 (3,778)
Taxable loss (12,162,320)  (42,729,451)
At the effective income tax rate of 0% - -
Defertred tax asset on carry-forward tax losses* 4,962,473 -

* The Company has recognized a deferred tax asset of AERD 4,962,473 (2024: AED NIL) relating to carried-
forward tax losses. These losses ate originated from the current financial year and the preceding period
(since the inception of the UAE Corporate Tax Law).

The asset has been calculated at the enacted statutory rate of 9%. Management has performed an assessment
of future profitability and concludes it is 'probable’ that future taxable profits will be available against which
these unused tax losses can be utilized.
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26 Earning per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of
the Company of loss of AED 7.99 million (2024: loss of AED 41,451,218) divided by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the year of 410,548,410 shares (2024: 410,548,410 Shates).

The Company has not issued any instruments which would have a dilutive impact on earnings pet shate

(2024: none existed). There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary
shares between the reporting date and date of authorization of these financial statements.

27 Related party transaction and balances

Related parties include the Company’s major Shareholders, directors and businesses controlled by them
and their families over which they exercise significant management influence as well as key management
petrsonnel,

During the year, the Company enteted into the following significant transactions with related parties:

2025 2024
AED AED
Attendance expenses
Board of Directors and committees’ meetings (note 8) 1,486,928 921,971
Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management during the year was as follows:
2025 2024
AED AED
Salaries and othet short-term benefits (note below) 4,868,747 4,176,650
Employees’ end of service benefits 170,961 236,029
5,039,708 4,412,679

The amounts disclosed in the table above relating to salaties and other short-term benefits are the amounts
recognised as an expense for the year ended December 31, 2025 and 2024 related to key management

personnel.

28 Leases
Comparny as a lessee

a) The Company has a lease contract for use of plant and machinery for its operations with lease term
of four years.

b) The Company also has certain lease with lease term of 12 months or less. The Company applies
the ‘short-term lease’ recognition exemption for this lease.
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28 Leases (continued)
c) Set out below is the cartying amount of right-of-use asset recognised and the movements during
the year:
2025 2024
AED AED
Balance as at January 1 2,300,833 -
Additions during the year 2,107,916 2,510,000
Amortised during the year (560,553) (209,167)
Balance as at December 31 3,848,196 2,300,833
d) Set out below is the carrying amount of lease liability recognised and the movements during the
year:
2025 2024
AED AED
Balance as at January 1 2,017,393 -
Additions during the year 2,107,916 2,510,000
Accretion of interest during the year (note 13) 134,765 63,393
Payment during the year (864,991) (556,000)
Balance as at December 31 3,395,083 2,017,393
Classified as:
Current labilities 1,186,834 486,166
Non-current liabilities 2,208,249 1,531,227
3,395,083 2,017,393
€) Following are the amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss for the year ended:
2025 2024
AED AED
Amottisation of right-of-use asset (note 11) 560,553 209,167
Interest on lease liability {(note 13) 134,765 63,393
Expense relating to short-term lease 1,755,970 1,624,821
2,451,288 1,897,381

) The Company had total cash outflows for its leases of AED 864,991 in 2025 (2024: AED
556,000). The Company also had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
AED 2,107,916 in 2025 (2024: 2,510,000).

29 Contingent liabilities and commitments
2025 2024
AED AED
Letters of credits 21,380,008 33,629,127
Performance guarantee 36,725 36,725
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Gulf Cement Company P.S.C

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended December 31, 2025

31 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As such, differences can arise between
book values and the fair value estimates. Underlying the definition of fair value is the ptesumption that the
Company is a going concern without any intention or requirement to materally curtail the scale of its
operation ot to undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

Fair value of financial instraments carried at amortised cost

Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at
amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fait values, mainly due to their short-term
maturities.

Valuation techniques and assuniptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined using similar valuation techniques
and assumptions as used in the financial statements for the year ended December 31,2024

Fair value of the Company’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on recurring basis
Some of the Company’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting yeat. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined;

Fair value . Relationship
Fair Valu:ittlon Significant of
techniques
value unobservable unobservable
hi h and key ; ; fai
2025 2024 erarcny inputs lIlP'I.It lﬂp'lltS to tair
Fi - value
mancl AED AED
assets
Quatec eqhiy Quoted bid
investments
carried at 48,471 1,844,244 LCVCI 1 pIiCCS iﬂ an None N/A
FVTOCI active
market
Ruatedequity Quoted bid
instruments
carried at - 13,664,856  Levell  pricesinan None N/A
FVTPL active
market

48,471 15,509,100

Fair value hierarchy

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole, as
follows:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.
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31 Fair value measurement (continued)

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each

reporting year,

There were no changes in the Company’s valuation processes, valuation techniques, and types of inputs
used in the fair value measurements duting the year.

2025
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED AED AED AED
Investment property - & -
Investments carried at FVTPL - - - -
Investments carried at
FVTOCL
- Quoted equities 48,471 - - 48,471
48,471 - - 48,471
2024
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED AED AED AED
Investment property - = 7,936,000 7,936,000
Investments carried at FVTPL 13,664,856 - - 13,664,856
Investments carried at
FVTOCI:
- Quoted equities 1,844,244 - = 1,844,244
15,509,100 - 7,936,000 23,445,100

There were no transfers between the levels during the year. There are no financial liabilities which should
be measured at fair value and accordingly no disclosute is made in the above table.

32 Financial instrument risk management objectives and policies

The Company’s principal financial liabilities compose of bank borrowings, trade and other payables and
lease liability. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Company’s operations. The
Company’s principal financial assets include trade receivables, bank balances and other receivables that
derive directly from its operations. The Company also holds investments in equity instruments which are
classified as either FVTPL or FVTOCL

The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s senior management
oversees the management of these risks. The Company’s senior management is supported by an executive
committee that advises on financial risks and the appropriate financial risk governance framework for the

Company.
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32 Financial instrument risk management objectives and policies (continued)

The executive committee provides assurance to the Company’s senior management that the Company’s
financial risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedutes and that financial risks are
identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Company’s policies and risk objectives. The
Boatd of Directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised
below.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency tisk and
other price risk, such as equity price tisk. Financial instruments affected by matket tisk include bank
borrowings, trade receivables, bank balances and other receivables and investments in equity instruments.

The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the position as at December 31, 2025 and 2024.

The sensitivity of the relevant statement of profit or loss item or equity is the effect of the assumed changes
in respective market risks. This is based on the financial assets and financial liabilities held at December 31,
2025 and 2024.

There has been no change to the Company’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risk.

a) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s bank borrowings at floating rates of interest linked to
EIBOR and SOFR for its facilities.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the statement of profit or loss to reasonably possible
changes in interest rates, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity of the statement of profit or
loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the Company’s results for the year, based on
the variable rate financial liabilities at the reporting date:

Increase/decrease Effect on results

basis points for the year in

AED

2025 +50 (377,045)
-50 377,045

2024 +50 (187,438)
-50 187,438
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Market risk (continued)

b) Foreign currency risk

Foreign cutrency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange

rates relates primarily to the Company’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is denominated in a
foreign currency).

The Company undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposutes to
exchange rate fluctuations arise.

The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign cutrency denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

Liabilities Assets
2025 2024 2025 2024
AED AED AED AED
US Dollars 133,395,821 193,372,443 - -
Euro 1,831,220 624,883 - -
Japanese Yen 13,136 - =
Kuwaiti Dinar - 1,496,007 48,471 1,801,103
GB pound 14,618 - 5 -

135,254,795 195,493,333 48,471 1,891,103

The UAE Dirham is currently pegged to the USD, thus the Company is not exposed to the risk on changes
in foreign currency relating to its assets and liabilities denominated in USD. 10% is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetatry items and adjusts their translation at the year end
for a 10% change in foreign currency rates against the AED.

The following table shows the sensitivity of the statement of profit or loss to reasonable possible changes
in currency rates, with all other parameters being unchanged. The effect of decrease is equal and opposite
of those shown below

Increase/ Effect on

Decrease the resnlts

in curvency of the year

rate %o AED

2025 +10% (181,050)
2024 +10% (22,979)
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Market risk (continued)
c) Price risk

The Company's listed equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about
future values of the investment securities. The Company manages the price risk through geographical and
risk diversification and placing limits on individual and total equity instruments. Reports on the equity
portfolio are submitted to the Company's senior management and Boatd of Directors on a regular basis.

The effect on statement of comprehensive income due to a reasonably possible change in market indices,
with all other variables held constant is as follows:

2025 2024
Changein  Effect on Change in Effect on
equity profit or Effect equity profitor  Effect
price loss on OCI price loss on OCI
Y% AED AED % AED  AED
Market indices
UAE +10% - - +10% 1,366,486 -
Other GCC countries +10% - 4,847 +10% - 184424

The Company limits market price risk by monitoring developments in the markets.

Method and assumptions for sensitivity analysis

" The sensitivity analysis has been done based on the exposure to equity price risk as at the reporting
date.
. A 10% change in equity prices has been used to give a realistic assessment as a plausible event.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that 2 counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily trade and other receivables) including short-term deposits with banks.

The Company has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of
mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Company’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed
and approved by the management annually.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage
by letters of credit or letter of guarantees). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written-off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.
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32 Financial instrument risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial
assets. The letters of credit and letter of guarantees are considered integral part of trade receivables and
considered in the calculation of impairment.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Company’s trade receivables using a
provision matrix:

2025

Gross  Provision Expected
value for credit
expected losses

credit

losses
AED AED (ECL)
Secured trade receivables 37,751,596 57,000 0.15%
Unsecured trade receivables 88,555,848 2,760,437 3.12%

126,307,444 2,817,437

2024

Gross Provision Expected
value for credit
expected losses

credit

losses
AED AED (ECL)
Secured trade receivables 31,440,380 47,095 0.15%
Unsecured trade receivables 69,149,960 2,787,707 4.03%

100,590,340 2,834,802

Credit risk with respect to concentration of trade receivables by geographical area is as follows:

2025 2024

AED AED

In UAE 125,181,706 99,509,901
In other GCC countries 1,125,738 1,080,439

126,307,444 100,590,340

Credit risk on bank balances is assessed to be minimal as these balances are callable on demand and held
with reputable financial institutions in the UAE and Kuwait. Accordingly, the ECL as at the reporting date
against bank balances is minimal. Credit risk on other financial assets is assessed to be minimal based on
historical default and the fact that they are held with counterparties with creditworthiness evaluated to be
good by the Company’s internal process.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets at the reporting date is limited to the carrying
value.
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32 Financial instrument risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. The Company’s
exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has framed
an appropriate liquidity risk management framewotk for the management of the Company’s short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Company manages liquidity risk by
maintaining adequate reserves and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching
the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities. The contractual
maturities of the financial liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining year at the reporting
date to the contractual maturity date. The maturity profile is monitored by management to ensure that
adequate liquidity is maintained. The maturity profile of the liabilities at the reporting date based on
contractual repayment arrangements was as follows:

Less than 2to12 1to5
1 month months years Total
AED AED AED AED
2025
Trade and other payables 56,596,467 190,243,119 - 246,839,586
Bank borrowings 5,567,303 71,726,989 - 77,294,292
Lease liability 54,000 1,353,999 2,346,665 3,754,664
62,217,770 263,324,107 2,346,665 327,888,542
Less than 2to 12 1to5
1 month months years Total
AED AED AED AED
2024
Trade and other payables 85,727,625 210,218,896 £ 295,946,521
Bank borrowings 14,531,884 23,620,269 - 38,152,153
Lease liability 54,000 594,000 1,728,000 2,376,000
100,313,509 234,433,165 1,728,000 336,474,674

Capital risk management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The Company
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as bank borrowings less bank balances and cash. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’
as shown in the statement of financial position.
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32 Financial instrument risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Capital risk management (continued)

The gearing ratio at the yearend was as follows:

2025 2024

AED AED

Bank borrowings 75,409,065  37.469,057
Less: bank balances and cash (2,216,644) (347,012)
Net debt 73,192,421 37,122,045
Total equity 498,951,319 506,600,384
Net debt to equity ratio (times) 0.15 0.07

In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company’s capital management, among other things, aims to
ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the banks borrowings that define capital structure
requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call
borrowings,

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital duting the years
ended December 31, 2025 and 2024.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

2025 Cash Cash
January 1 inflows Outflows Others December 31
AED AED AED AED AED
Bank borrowings 37,469,657 221,409,949 (183,470,541) - 75,409,065
Unclaimed
dividend 25,385,572 - (631,721) - 24,753,851
Lease liability 2,017,393 = (864,991) 2,242,681 3,395,083
64,872,622 221,409,949 (184,967,253) 2,242,681 103,557,999
2024 Cash Cash
January 1 inflows Outflows Others  December 31
AED AED AED AED AED
Bank borrowings 56,267,388 142,896,250  (161,693,981) - 37,469,657
Unclaimed
dividend 25,961,250 - (575,678) - 25,385,572
Lease liability - - (556,000 2,573,393 2,017,393
82,228,638 142,896,250  (162,825,659) 2,573,393 64,872,622

The ‘Others’” column includes the new leases and the effect of interest on lease liability. The Company
classifies interest paid as cash flows from opetating activities.

33 Comparative information

Certain corresponding figures for previous year have been reclassified in order to conform to the
presentation for the current year. Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported profit or
shareholder's equity.

These changes have been made to improve the quality of information presented.
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